MANAGEMENT

MANAGEMENT

ELEVENTH CANADIAN EDITION

STEPHEN P. ROBBINS SAN DIEGO STATE UNIVERSITY

> MARY COULTER MISSOURI STATE UNIVERSITY

> > ED LEACH dalhousie university

MARY KILFOIL DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY



Editor-in-Chief: Claudine O'Donnell Acquisitions Editor: Carolin Sweig Marketing Manager: Jessica Saso Program Manager: Karen Townsend Project Manager: Jessica Hellen Developmental Editor: Suzanne Schaan Media Editor: Nicole Mellow Media Producer: Kelli Cadet Production Services: Cenveo® Publisher Services Permissions Project Manager: Joanne Tang Photo Permissions Research: Krystyna Borgen, PMG Text Permissions Research: James Fortney, PMG Cover and Interior Designer: Anthony Leung Cover Image: Ken Redding/Corbis images

Credits and acknowledgments for material borrowed from other sources and reproduced, with permission, in this textbook appear on the appropriate page within the text.

Original edition published by Pearson Education, Inc., Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, USA. Copyright © 2014, 2009 Pearson Education, Inc. This edition is authorized for sale only in Canada.

If you purchased this book outside the United States or Canada, you should be aware that it has been imported without the approval of the publisher or the author.

Copyright © 2016, 2012 Pearson Canada Inc. All rights reserved. Manufactured in the United States of America. This publication is protected by copyright and permission should be obtained from the publisher prior to any prohibited reproduction, storage in a retrieval system, or transmission in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or likewise. To obtain permission(s) to use material from this work, please submit a written request to Pearson Canada Inc., Permissions Department, 26 Prince Andrew Place, Don Mills, Ontario, M3C 2T8, or fax your request to 416-447-3126, or submit a request to Permissions Requests at **www.pearsoncanada.ca**.

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 [CKV]

Library and Archives Canada Cataloguing in Publication

Robbins, Stephen P., 1943-, author Management / Stephen P. Robbins, San Diego State University, Mary Coulter, Missouri State University, Ed Leach, Dalhousie University, Mary Kilfoil, Dalhousie University.—Eleventh Canadian edition.

Revision of: Management / Stephen P. Robbins ... [et al.].—10th Canadian ed.—Toronto : Pearson, [2011], ©2012. Includes bibliographical references and index. ISBN 978-0-13-335727-1 (bound)

1. Management–Textbooks. 2. Management—Canada—Textbooks. I. Coulter, Mary, author II. Leach, Ed (Professor of management), author III. Kilfoil, Mary, 1956-, author IV. Title.

HD31.R5647 2015 658.4 C2014-904803-3



Brief Contents

Part ONE	Defining the Manager's Terrain	
CHAPTER 1	Introduction to Management and Organizations	1
	Module 1 Management History 24	
CHAPTER 2	Organizational Culture and the Organizational Environment	35
CHAPTER 3	Managing in a Global Environment	62
CHAPTER 4	Managing Entrepreneurially	87
CHAPTER 5	Managing Responsibly and Ethically	109
CHAPTER 6	Innovation and Adaptability	136

Part TWO	Planning	
CHAPTER 7	Decision Making	162
CHAPTER 8	Foundations of Planning	188
CHAPTER 9	Managing Strategically	207
	Module 2 Planning and Control Techniques 233	3

Part THREE	Organizing	
CHAPTER 10	Organizational Design	249
CHAPTER 11	Managers and Communication	275
CHAPTER 12	Managing Human Resources	302

Part FOUR	Leading	
CHAPTER 13	Leadership	332
CHAPTER 14	Motivating Employees	359
CHAPTER 15	Managing Groups and Teams	387

Part FIVE	Controlling	
CHAPTER 16	Managerial Controls: Evidence-Based Decision Making	412
	Module 3 Managing Operations 439	

Contents

Preface **xiii** Acknowledgements **xvii** About the Authors **xix**

PART ONE

Defining the Manager's Terrain

CHAPTER 1 Introduction to Management and Organizations 1

Who Are Managers and Why Are They

Important? 2 Datapoints 3 Who Is a Manager? 3 Types of Managers 3

What Is Management and What

Do Managers Do? 4 Efficiency and Effectiveness 5 Management Functions 5 Management Roles 7

What Is an Organization? 9

The Size of Organizations **11** The Types of Organizations **11**

How Is the Manager's Job Changing? 12
Importance of Customers to the Manager's Job
Importance of Social Media to the Manager's Job
Importance of Innovation to the Manager's Job
Importance of Adaptability to the Manager's Job
Importance of Sustainability to the Manager's Job
Importance of Sustainability to the Manager's Job

Why Study Management? The Universality of Management The Reality of Work Self-Employment

Module 1: Management History 24

Early Management 24

Classical Approach 25 Scientific Management 25 General Administrative Theory 27

Behavioural Approach 29

Quantitative Approach **30** Contemporary Approaches **32**

CHAPTER 2 Organizational Culture and the Organizational Environment 35

The Manager: Omnipotent or Symbolic? The Omnipotent View The Symbolic View Reality Suggests a Synthesis

The Organization's Culture What Is Organizational Culture? Strong Cultures Subcultures Where Culture Comes From and How It Continues How Employees Learn Culture How Culture Affects Managers *Datapoints*

Current Organizational Culture Issues Facing Managers **45** Creating an Ethical Culture Creating an Innovative Culture Creating a Customer-Responsive Culture Creating a Culture That Supports Diversity

The Organizational Environment **48** Defining the External Environment **49** How the Organizational Environment Affects Managers **54**

CHAPTER 3 Managing in a Global Environment 62

What's Your Global Perspective? 63

Understanding the Global Environment 65 Regional Trading Alliances 65 *Datapoints* 69 Global Trade Mechanisms 69 The World Trade Organization 69 International Monetary Fund and World Bank Group 70 Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 70

Doing Business Globally **70** Different Types of International Organizations **71** How Organizations Go International **72**

Managing in a Global Environment 74

The Legal–Political Environment The Economic Environment The Cultural Environment Global Management in Today's World

CHAPTER 4 Managing Entrepreneurially 87

The Context of Entrepreneurship 88
What Is Entrepreneurship? 88
How Entrepreneurial Ventures Add Value to the Economy 88
The Nature of Opportunities and the Role of Entrepreneurial Managers 89
Why Is Entrepreneurship Important? 89
What Do Entrepreneurs Do? 90

Social Responsibility and Ethical Issues Facing Entrepreneurs **92** The Entrepreneurial Process **92**

Start-Up and Planning Issues for an Entrepreneurial Venture 93
Embracing Failure as Learning 94
Researching a Venture's Feasibility: Generating and Evaluating Ideas 94
Researching a Venture's Feasibility: Researching Competitors 95

Researching a Venture's Feasibility: Researching Financing **96**

Planning a Venture: Developing a Business Plan 96

Issues in Organizing an Entrepreneurial Venture 97
Organizational Design and Structure 97
Human Resource Management 98
How to Stimulate and Make Changes 98
The Continuing Importance of Innovation 98

Issues in Leading an Entrepreneurial Venture **100** The Entrepreneur as Leader **101**

Issues in Controlling an Entrepreneurial Venture Managing Growth Managing Downturns Exiting the Venture

CHAPTER 5 Managing Responsibly and Ethically 109

What Is Meant by Socially Responsible Management? From Obligations to Responsiveness to Responsibility The Evolution of Socially Responsible Management

Corporate Social Responsibility and Economic Performance **114**

Sustainable Management Practices 115

Global Environmental Problems **116** How Organizations Manage Sustainably **116** Evaluating Sustainable Management **118**

Values-Based Management **119** Purposes of Shared Values **120**

Managerial Ethics 121

Factors That Affect Employee Ethics121Ethics in an International Context125Datapoints125Encouraging Ethical Behaviour126

CHAPTER 6 Innovation and Adaptability 136

The Context of Innovation and Adaptability Why Build an Adaptable Organization? Innovation Adaptability

Forces for Change 138 External Forces 139 Internal Forces 140

Two Views of the Change Process140The Calm Waters Metaphor141The White-Water Rapids Metaphor142Putting the Two Views in Perspective142

Managing Organizational Change 142 What Is Organizational Change? 143 Types of Change 143 Global Organizational Development 146 Managing Resistance to Change 146

Stimulating Innovation and Adaptability Creativity vs. Innovation Stimulating and Nurturing Innovation and Adaptability Adaptive Organizations Innovation and Design Thinking Changing Organizational Culture

Part One: Management Practice 161

Part two Planning

CHAPTER 7 Decision Making 162

The Decision-Making Process163Step 1: Identify a Problem163Step 2: Identify Decision Criteria164Step 3: Allocate Weights to Criteria164

Step 4: Develop Alternatives 165 Step 5: Analyze Alternatives 166 Step 6: Select an Alternative 166 Step 7: Implement the Alternative 166 Step 8: Evaluate Decision Effectiveness 167 The Manager as Decision Maker 167 Making Decisions: Rationality 168 Making Decisions: The Role of Intuition 169 Making Decisions: The Role of Evidence-Based Management 170 Types of Decisions and Decision-Making Conditions 171

Types of Decisions **171** Decision-Making Conditions **173**

Decision-Making Styles Linear–Nonlinear Thinking Style Profile Decision-Making Biases and Errors *Datapoints* Summing Up Managerial Decision Making

Effective Decision Making for Today's World **179** Guidelines for Effective Decision Making **180** Design Thinking and Decision Making **181**

CHAPTER 8 Foundations of Planning 188

What Is Planning? **189** Planning and Performance **189**

How Do Managers Plan? 190 Goals and Plans 191 Types of Goals 191 Types of Plans 191

Setting Goals and Developing Plans Approaches to Setting Goals *Datapoints* Developing Plans Approaches to Planning

Current Issues in Planning How Can Managers Plan Effectively in Dynamic Environments? How Can Managers Use Environmental Scanning?

CHAPTER 9 Managing Strategically 207

The Importance of Strategic Management **208** What Is Strategic Management? **208** Why Is Strategic Management Important? **209**

The Strategic Management Process **209** Step 1: Identify the Organization's Current Mission, Goals, and Strategies **210** Step 2: Conduct an Internal Analysis210Step 3: Conduct an External Analysis212Step 4: Formulate Strategies212Step 5: Implement Strategies212Step 6: Evaluate Results213

Types of Organizational Strategies **213** Organizational Strategy **214** How Are Corporate Strategies Managed? **217**

Creating Strategic Competitive Advantage The Role of Competitive Advantage Competitive Strategies *Datapoints*

Current Strategic Management Issues222The Need for Strategic Leadership223The Need for Strategic Flexibility223New Directions in Organizational Strategies224

Module 2: Planning and Control Techniques 233

Techniques for Assessing the Environment233Environmental Scanning233Forecasting235Benchmarking236

Techniques for Allocating Resources 237 Budgeting 237 Scheduling 239 Gantt Charts 239

Breakeven Analysis **242**

Linear Programming **243**

Contemporary Planning and Control Techniques 245 Project Management 245 Scenario Planning 246

Part Two: Management Practice 248

Organizing

CHAPTER 10 Organizational Design 249

Designing Organizational Structure Work Specialization Departmentalization Chain of Command Span of Control Centralization and Decentralization Formalization Datapoints 259

Mechanistic and Organic Strucutres 259

Contingency Factors Affecting Structural Choice **261** Strategy and Structure Size and Structure Technology and Structure Environmental Uncertainty and Structure

Traditional Organizational Designs Simple Structure Functional Structure Divisional Structure

Contemporary Organizational Designs 264 Team Structures 265 Matrix and Project Structures 266 The Boundaryless Organization 266 Learning Organizations 268

CHAPTER 11 Managers and Communication 275

Understanding Communication 276 What Is Communication? 276 Functions of Communication 277

Methods of Interpersonal Communication 277 Channels for Interpersonal Communication Techniques 278

Effective Interpersonal Communication How Distortions Can Happen in Interpersonal Communication Barriers to Effective Interpersonal Communication Overcoming Barriers to Communication

Organizational Communication 285 Formal vs. Informal Communication 286 Direction of Communication Flow 286 Organizational Communication Networks 287 Workplace Design and Communication 289

Information Technology and Communication How Information Technology Affects Organizations Privacy Issues

Communication Issues in Today's Organizations 293 Managing Communication in an Internet World 293 Managing the Organization's Knowledge Resources 294 Datapoints 295 The Role of Communication in Customer Service 295 Getting Employee Input 295 Communicating Ethically 296

CHAPTER 12 Managing Human Resources 302

The Human Resource Management Process **303** Why Human Resource Management Is Important **303** Human Resources for Non–Human Resource Managers **303** Datapoints **305** External Factors That Affect the HRM Process **305** Identifying and Selecting Competent Employees **308** Human Resource Planning **308**

Providing Employees with Needed Skills and Knowledge **314** Employee Orientation **315** Training **315**

Recruitment and Decruitment **309**

Selection 310

Retaining Competent and High-Performance Employees 317
Employee Performance Management 318
What Happens When Performance Falls Short? 318
Compensation and Benefits 318
Career Development 320

Contemporary Issues in Managing Human Resources Workforce Diversity Managing Downsizing Managing Sexual Harassment Managing Work–Life Balance

Part Three: Management Practice 331

Leading

Chapter 13 Leadership 332

Who Are Leaders, and What Is Leadership? 333

Early Leadership Theories **333** Trait Theories **334** Behavioural Theories **335**

Contingency Theories of Leadership 338

The Fiedler Model **338** Hersey and Blanchard's Situational Leadership[®] Theory **340** Path–Goal Theory **341**

Contemporary Views of Leadership Leader–Member Exchange (LMX) Theory Transformational vs. Transactional Leadership Charismatic–Visionary Leadership Team Leadership Datapoints

Leadership Issues in the Twenty-First Century Managing Power Developing Trust Providing Ethical Leadership Empowering Employees Leading across Cultures Becoming an Effective Leader

CHAPTER 14 Motivating Employees 359

What Is Motivation? 360

Early Theories of Motivation Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs Theory McGregor's Theory X and Theory Y Herzberg's Two-Factor Theory McClelland's Three-Needs Theory

Contemporary Theories of Motivation Goal-Setting Theory Reinforcement Theory Designing Motivating Jobs Equity Theory Expectancy Theory Integrating Contemporary Theories of Motivation

Current Issues in Motivation Motivating in Tough Economic Circumstances Managing Cross-Cultural Motivational Challenges *Datapoints* Motivating Unique Groups of Workers Designing Effective Rewards Programs

CHAPTER 15 Managing Groups and Teams 387

Groups and Group Development **388** What Is a Group? **388** Stages of Group Development **388**

Work Group Performance and Satisfaction **390** External Conditions Imposed on the Group **391** Group Member Resources Group Structure *Datapoints* Group Tasks

Turning Groups into Effective Teams398What Is a Work Team?399Types of Work Teams399Creating Effective Work Teams400

Current Challenges in Managing Teams Managing Global Teams Building Team Skills Understanding Social Networks

Part Four: Management Practice 411

PART FIVE Controlling

Chapter 16 Managerial Controls: Evidence-Based Decision Making 412

What Is Controlling, and Why Is It Important? **413** Why Is Control Important? **413**

The Control Process Step 1: Measuring Performance Step 2: Comparing Performance against Standard Step 3: Taking Managerial Action Summary of Managerial Decisions

Controlling for Organizational and Employee Performance Performance Standards Measures of Organizational Performance

Tools for Measuring Organizational Performance Feed-Forward Control Concurrent Control Feedback Control Financial Controls Information Controls Balanced Scorecard

Contemporary Issues in Control Controlling Customer Interactions Organizational Governance Adjusting Controls for Cross-Cultural Differences and Global Turmoil Emerging Workplace Concerns Customer Experience

Module 3: Managing Operations 439

The Role of Operations Management 439

Services and Manufacturing **440** Managing Productivity **440** Strategic Role of Operations Management **441**

What Is Value Chain Management, and Why Is It Important? What Is Value Chain Management? Goal of Value Chain Management Benefits of Value Chain Management

Managing Operations by Using Value Chain Management Requirements of Value Chain Management Obstacles to Value Chain Management Current Issues in Managing Operations Technology's Role in Operations Management Quality Initiatives Quality Goals

Mass Customization and Lean Organization 451

Part Five: Management Practice 453

Endnotes **454** Name and Organization Index List of Canadian Companies by Province List of International Companies by Country Glossary/Subject Index

Preface

This course and this book are about management and managers. Managers are the one thing that all organizations—no matter the size, kind, or location—need. And there's no doubt that the world that managers face has changed, is changing, and will continue to change. The dynamic nature of today's organizations means both rewards and challenges for the individuals who will be managing those organizations. Management is a dynamic subject, and a textbook on it should reflect those changes to help prepare you to manage under the current conditions. Thus, we've written this eleventh Canadian edition of *Management* to provide you with the best possible understanding of what it means to be a manager confronting change.

General Content and Approach

The underlying philosophy of our textbook is that "Management Is for Everyone." Students who are not managers, or do not envision themselves as managers, do not always understand why studying management is important or relevant. We use examples from a variety of settings and provide several different end-of-chapter applications, such as *Learning to Be a Manager*, to help you understand the relevance of studying management for your day-to-day life. We have once again expanded the discussion of ethics and social responsibility to reflect the commitment of today's students to making the world a better place.

We have broadened the discussion of adaptability across all chapters—the need for managers to continuously scan for new opportunities and then act strategically to take advantage of them. Design thinking is an emerging and important trend in management that is also considered.

In this edition, we have continued to make enhancements that add to both learning and instruction:

- The chapter on change and innovation (previously Chapter 13) has been moved to Part One: Defining the Manager's Terrain and retitled "Innovation and Adaptability" to reflect its new focus on actual innovation rather than change management.
- Two chapters have been turned into briefer modules with fewer features. The previous Chapter 9 has become Module 2, "Planning and Control Techniques" (following Chapter 9). The previous Chapter 18 has become Module 3, "Managing Operations" (following Chapter 16).
- A new *Datapoints* feature has been added in most chapters (Chapters 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15).
- End-of-chapter elements have been streamlined, and each chapter now features two *Case Applications* with discussion questions, rather than only one.
- A new part closer features *A Manager's Dilemma*, which outlines a realistic dilemma for students to resolve, and *Global Sense*, which includes additional information on global issues for students to research and discuss.

Chapter Pedagogical Features

This new edition of *Management* continues to offer a rich variety of pedagogical features, including the following:

- Numbered learning outcomes at the opening of each chapter guide student learning. These are repeated in the margin at the start of each major chapter section to reinforce the learning outcome.
- A vignette opens each chapter and is threaded throughout the chapter to help students apply a story to the concepts they are learning.
- *Think About It* questions follow the vignette, as well as the return to the opening story throughout the chapter, giving students a chance to put themselves into the shoes of managers in various situations.
- *Management Reflections* are longer examples designed to enhance student learning. Some address general managerial issues, while others focus on international issues, ethics, or innovation.
- *Summary and Implications* are organized around the learning outcomes introduced at the beginning of each chapter.

Our end-of-chapter features provide students with a variety of opportunities to apply the material right now, even if they are not managers:

- *Reading and Discussion Questions.* Students can review their understanding of the chapter content and see the application of theory to management situations.
- *Ethical Dilemma.* This exercise gives students an opportunity to consider ethical issues that relate to chapter material, including values-led management and sustainability.
- *Skills Exercise.* To reflect the importance being placed on skills, each chapter has this skills-based feature that encompasses the four management functions. The feature includes lessons about a particular skill, steps in developing the skill, a practice assignment to use the skill (often a mini-case), and a set of reinforcement assignments to further work on accomplishing the skill.
- *Working Together: Team Exercise.* Students get a chance to work together in groups to solve a management challenge.
- *Learning to Be a Manager.* Students can apply chapter material to their daily lives, helping them see that planning, leading, organizing, and controlling are useful in one's day-to-day life too. This feature is suggests activities and actions students can do right now to help them in preparing to become a manager.
- *Case Applications.* Each chapter has two decision-focused cases that ask students to determine what they would do if they were in the situation described.

New to the Eleventh Canadian Edition

Content and examples throughout the text have been revised and updated. Key content changes include the following:

Chapter 1: Introduction to Management and Organizations includes new coverage of social media and sustainability, as well as an enhanced discussion of innovation and creativity as contributors to building an adaptable organization.

Module 1: Management History has updated exhibits and examples.

Chapter 2: Organizational Culture and the Organizational Environment explores new trends in organizational culture, including new examples.

Chapter 3: Managing in a Global Environment has updated information on international trade alliances and agreements as well as a new discussion of cultural intelligence and global mindset. A new vignette on Ford in the global marketplace runs throughout the chapter.

Chapter 4: Managing Entrepreneurially offers new coverage of start-ups and a discussion of how existing companies can apply the entrepreneurial approach to developing new products (drawing on lean methodologies). A new vignette on Futurepreneur Canada runs throughout the chapter.

Chapter 5: Managing Responsibly and Ethically includes updated information on and examples of sustainability and ethical management.

Chapter 6: Innovation and Adaptability has an enhanced focus on innovation to induce change and a reduced focus on managing change, and also introduces design thinking. A new vignette on Blackberry and its fall from grace runs throughout the chapter.

Chapter 7: Decision Making has new discussion of evidence-based management and design thinking and decision making. A new vignette based on the disruptions that airlines faced in the winter of 2013–2014 because of adverse weather patterns runs throughout the chapter.

Chapter 8: Foundations of Planning has a new discussion of stated goals and real goals.

Chapter 9: Managing Strategically now includes a separate learning outcome on competitive advantage and a new discussion of design thinking.

Module 2: Planning and Control Techniques, formerly a separate chapter, is now a module and has updated exhibits and examples.

Chapter 10: Organizational Design has expanded coverage of chain of command, including new figures, as well as a revised discussion of contemporary organizational designs.

Chapter 11: Managers and Communication has an enhanced focus on social media and technology, and new coverage of the impact of workplace design on communication. A new vignette looks at the use of Twitter by organizations.

Chapter 12: Managing Human Resources has a new discussion of the impact of downsizing.

Chapter 13: Leadership includes Leader–Member Exchange Theory (LMX) and has a reduced emphasis on the early theories of leadership and motivation.

Chapter 14: Motivating Employees has expanded material on the job characteristics model and job redesign. The section on current issues has been revised to include tough economic circumstances, open-book management, and new information on cross-cultural challenges.

Chapter 15: Managing Groups and Teams includes new material on team-building skills.

Chapter 16: Managerial Controls: Evidence-Based Decision Making has a revised approach, using the frame of evidence-based decision making. New material includes controlling customer interactions and the use of dashboards to manage information for decision makers.

Module 3: Managing Operations, formerly a separate chapter, is now a module and has new coverage of lean organizations.

Supplements

MyManagementLab

With this eleventh Canadian edition of *Management*, we continue to offer MyManagementLab, which provides students with an assortment of tools to help enrich and expedite learning. MyManagementLab is an online study tool for students and an online homework and assessment tool for faculty. MyManagementLab lets students assess their understanding through auto-graded tests and assignments, develop a personalized study plan to address areas of weakness, and practise a variety of learning tools to master management principles. New and updated MyManagementLab resources include the following:

- **Personal Inventory Assessment (PIA):** Students learn better when they can connect what they are learning to their personal experience. PIA is a collection of online exercises designed to promote self-reflection and engagement in students, enhancing their ability to connect with concepts taught in principles of management, organizational behaviour, and human resource management classes. Assessments are assignable by instructors, who can then track students' completions. Student results include a written explanation along with a graphic display that shows how their results compare to the class as a whole. Instructors will also have access to this graphic representation of results to promote classroom discussion.
- **NEW Personalized Study Plan.** As students work through MyManagementLab's new Study Plan, they can clearly see which topics they have mastered—and, more importantly, which they need to work on. Each question has been carefully written to match the concepts, language, and focus of the text, so students can get an accurate sense of how well they've understood the chapter content.
- **NEW Business Today Videos.** *Business Today* is a dynamic and expanding database of videos covering the disciplines of management, business, marketing, and more. Instructors will find new videos posted monthly, which makes *Business Today* the ideal resource for up-to-date video examples that are perfect for classroom use.
- **NEW Learning Catalytics.** Learning Catalytics is a "bring your own device" student engagement, assessment, and classroom intelligence system. It allows instructors to engage students in class with a variety of question types designed to gauge student understanding.
- Assignable Mini-Cases and Video Cases. Instructors have access to a variety of case-based assessment material that can be assigned to students, with multiple-choice quizzes or written-response format in MyManagementLab's new Writing Space.
- **eText.** Students can study without leaving the online environment. They can access the eText online, including videos and simulations. The interactive eText allows students to highlight sections, bookmark pages, or take notes electronically just as they might do with a traditional text. Instructors can also add their own notes to the text and then share them with their students.
- Glossary Flashcards. This study aid is useful for students' review of key concepts.
- **BizSkill and Decision-Making Mini-Simulations.** The BizSkill and Decision-Making mini-simulations help students analyze and make decisions in common business situations; the simulations assess student choices and include reinforcement quizzes, outlines, and glossaries.
- **Careers in Management.** These documents outline professional management associations in Canada and describe some key management positions and the skills students need to pursue specific careers.

Additional Instructor Resources

Management is accompanied by a complete set of instructor resources. Some of these items are available for download from a password-protected section of Pearson Canada's online catalogue (www.pearsoncanada.ca/highered). Navigate to your book's catalogue page to view a list of those supplements that are available. See your local sales representative for details and access.

Instructor's Resource Manual: This manual includes detailed lecture outlines, answers, and teaching suggestions for the end-of-chapter questions and activities, and video teaching notes.

PowerPoint Slides: These chapter-by-chapter presentations cover key points and exhibits, are correlated to the learning objectives, and provide detailed speaking notes.

TestGen: The new edition of *Management* comes with TestGen, a computerized test bank that enables instructors to view and edit the existing questions, add questions, generate tests, and print the tests in a variety of formats. Powerful search and sort functions make it easy to locate questions and arrange them in any order desired. TestGen also enables instructors to administer tests on a local area network, have the tests graded electronically, and have the results prepared in electronic or printed reports. The TestGen for the eleventh Canadian edition includes over 2500 questions in true/false, multiple-choice, and short-answer formats.

Test Item File: All the questions from the TestGen test bank are also available in Microsoft Word format.

Video Guide: This guide provides a synopsis and questions for the *Business Today* videos available on MyManagementLab.

Image Library: All exhibits from the text are provided in electronic format for instructor use.

CourseSmart: CourseSmart goes beyond traditional expectations—providing instant, online access to the textbooks and course materials you need at a lower cost for students. And even as students save money, you can save time and hassle with a digital eTextbook that allows you to search for the most relevant content at the very moment you need it. Whether it's evaluating textbooks or creating lecture notes to help students with difficult concepts, CourseSmart can make life a little easier. See how when you visit www.coursesmart.com/instructors.

Learning Solutions Managers: Pearson's Learning Solutions managers work with faculty and campus course designers to ensure that Pearson technology products, assessment tools, and online course materials are tailored to meet your specific needs. This highly qualified team is dedicated to helping schools take full advantage of a wide range of educational resources, by assisting in the integration of a variety of instructional materials and media formats. Your local Pearson Education sales representative can provide you with more details on this service program.

Pearson Custom Library: For enrollments of at least 25 students, you can create your own textbook by choosing the chapters that best suit your own course needs. To begin building your custom text, visit www.pearsoncustomlibrary.com. You may also work with a dedicated Pearson Custom editor to create your ideal text—publishing your own original content or mixing and matching Pearson content. Contact your local Pearson Representative to get started.

Acknowledgments

We want to thank Colin Conrad, a Masters of Electronic Commerce student, who helped edit the manuscript. His background in economics and philosophy and his fearless nature assisted us in more clearly conveying the material for the reader. Thank you, Colin! We want to acknowledge the many reviewers of this textbook for their detailed and helpful comments. The following reviewers, plus others who choose to remain anonymous, provided feedback on the tenth Canadian edition and/or the manuscript for the eleventh Canadian edition:

Mahfooz A. Ansari, University of Lethbridge Matt Archibald, University of Ottawa Bruce Bennett, College of New Caledonia Tabea K. Berg, NAIT Kerry D. Couet, Grant MacEwan University Claude J. Dupuis, Athabasca University Jai Goolsarran, Centennial College James Hebert, Red River College Sarah Holding, Vancouver Island University Michelle Inness, University of Alberta Angela Karwal, University of Alberta Horatio Morgan, Ryerson University Lyndsay Passmore, Kwantlen Polytechnic University Rhonda Reich, Grant MacEwan University Carol Ann Samhaber, Algonquin College Bryan Webber, Vancouver Island University

Steve Robbins would like to thank his wife, Laura, for her encouragement and support. Mary Coulter would like to thank her husband and family for being supportive and understanding and for patiently enduring her many hours at the computer! And Mary would like to acknowledge her Wednesday night Bible study class ... you ladies have been so supportive of me and you continue to be an important part of my life. Thank you!

Ed Leach and Mary Kilfoil dedicate this book to their parents, Charles and Florence Leach and Gerald and Joan Kilfoil, who have taught them so much. In addition, they would like to thank their students, who have been the inspiration for this edition. Thank you all for keeping it so interesting!

About the Authors

Stephen P. Robbins (Ph.D., University of Arizona) is professor emeritus of management at San Diego State University and the world's best-selling textbook author in the areas of both management and organizational behavior. His books have sold more than 5 million copies and have been translated into 20 languages. His books are currently used at more than 1500 U.S. colleges and universities as well as hundreds of schools throughout Canada, Latin America, Australia, New Zealand, Asia, and Europe. Dr. Robbins is also the author of the best-selling *The Truth About Managing People*, 2nd ed. (Financial Times/Prentice Hall, 2008) and *Decide & Conquer* (Financial Times/Prentice Hall, 2004).

Dr. Robbins actively participates in masters' track competitions. Since turning 50 in 1993, he's won 23 national championships and 14 world titles. He was inducted into the U.S. Masters' Track & Field Hall of Fame in 2005 and is currently the world record holder at 100m (12.37) and 200m (25.20) for men 65 and over.

Mary Coulter (Ph.D., University of Arkansas) is professor emeritus of management at Missouri State University. Dr. Coulter has published other books with Prentice Hall, including *Strategic Management in Action*, now in its sixth edition, and *Entrepreneurship in Action*, which is in its second edition. When she's not busy writing, Dr. Coulter enjoys puttering around in her flower garden, trying new recipes on family members (usually successful!), reading a variety of books, and enjoying many different activities with family: Ron, Sarah and James, Katie and Matt, granddaughter, Brooklynn, and grandson, Blake. Love my sweet babies!

Ed Leach received his Ph.D. in computing technology in education from Nova Southeastern University in Ft. Lauderdale and an MBA from the University of Western Ontario. Prior to completing his graduate work, Dr. Leach was an entrepreneur who also taught in the professional programs of the Society of Management Accountants and the Purchasing Management Association of Canada. His interest in working with entrepreneurs has continued since joining Dalhousie University, where Dr. Leach has mentored lead entrepreneurs during the start-up phase of their technology businesses, including two IPOs. Dr. Leach is an award-winning professor who developed the introductory management course at Dalhousie and has taught it since its inception in 1999. His research interests lie in the field of entrepreneurship and specifically the role of creativity in triggering innovation. Dr. Leach is the director of the Norman Newman Centre for Entrepreneurship, in the School of Business, Dalhousie University, and is a past president of the Canadian Council for Small Business and Entrepreneurship (CCSBE), 2006. When he is not busy teaching, he enjoys cooking and spending time with family, especially his and Mary's four grandchildren.









Mary Kilfoil received her Ph.D. from Dalhousie University and her master's degree from Carleton University, in economics. Dr. Kilfoil is the academic lead for the Starting Lean initiative and in 2014 was named national educator of the year by Startup Canada. Mary has taught the introductory management course in the Faculty of Management as well as courses in economics, program evaluation, and research methods at Dalhousie University. She has developed course curricula for the MBA Financial Services Program and the Executive Masters of Public Administration (MPA-M) Program offered to government employees across Canada. Dr. Kilfoil has more than 20 years' experience as a manager in the private sector and holds the position of senior economist and partner at Gardner Pinfold Consultants, one of Canada's leading firms specializing in economic analysis. She has extensive experience as a researcher, analyst, and report writer in the field of environmental and natural resource economics, economic impact analysis, and climate change policy, with some 75 major reports to her credit. She is also the co-director for the Dalhousie Shad Valley Program, a residential academic program for gifted youth. When she is not busy working, Mary enjoys spending time with family, gardening, outdoor recreational activities, and travelling.